RECEIVED

Mar 15 2024

SC Court of Appeals

**THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS**

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY
COURT OF COMMON PLEAS

MAITE MURPHY, CIRCUIT COURT JUDGE

APPELATE CASE NO. 2023-000479

MICHELLE FRAZIER, INDIVIDUALLY AND AS PERSONAL
REPRESENTATIVE OF THE ESTATE OF BARBARA FRAZIERAPPELLANT,

V.

ORANGEBURG POST-ATCUTE, LLC DBA EDISTO POST-ACUTE FKA RIVERSIDE
REHABILITATION AND HEALTH CENTER, LLC PROVIDENCE ADMINISTRATIVE
CONSULTING SERVICESK, INC., HALCYON REHAB, LLC, HMS PURCHASING, LLC.
APRICITY RESOURCES, LLC, OHI ASSET (SC) ORANGEBURG, LLC, DEFENDANTS,

OF WHICH HALYCON REHAB, LLC IS THERESPONDENT.

FINAL APPELLANT'S BRIEF

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE ON APPEAL

Did the Trial Court err as a matter of law in dismissing Respondent Halycon finding Appellant's claim triggered the expert affidavit requirements found in S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125?

STATEMENT OF CASE

Barbara Frazier, at age 47, became a resident at Riverside Rehab and Health Center, LLC (Riverside), a skilled nursing facility located in Orangeburg County South Carolina. Ms. Frazier's residency began in April 2015 and ended around July 2018 when she was discharged to Regional Medical Center. Ms. Frazier died on July 28, 2018.

Throughout Ms. Frazier's admission, the facility underwent multiple different licensees. [R. pp. 240-246.] At the time Ms. Frazier sustained multiple injuries, Riverside was the licensee operating the facility. In March of 2018 and unbeknownst to Ms. Frazier and her family, Riverside filed for bankruptcy in Federal Court in Texas. Accordingly, no claim was filed by Ms. Frazier or on behalf of her estate during the bankruptcy proceedings. Ms. Frazier remained a resident of Riverside for four (4) months after Riverside filed for bankruptcy.

On May 29, 2020, Plaintiff was duly appointed as Personal Representative of Ms. Frazier's estate. Plaintiff filed a Notice of Intent with a Summons and Complaint attached on July 27, 2021. [R. pp. 18-57, 59-60.] The Notice named Defendant Orangeburg Post-Acute, LLC as successor entity of Riverside. No appearance was made by Defendant Orangeburg Post-Acute, LLC during the pre-suit period. Plaintiff filed a Summons and Complaint on December 14, 2021. [R. pp. 79-96.] Defendant Orangeburg Post-Acute, LLC filed a Motion to Dismiss, on January 13, 2022, alleging they were not a successor entity but a subsequent new facility with no corporate involvement with the former Riverside. [R. pp. 97-101.]

Prior to the hearing for Defendant Orangeburg Post-Acute, LLC's Motion to Dismiss, Plaintiff subsequently filed a Motion to Amend Complaint to Add Defendants on February 9, 2022. Plaintiff alleged the bankruptcy proceedings did not include other affiliates, servants, employees, agents, and/or alter-egos that derived substantial revenue and used its financial position to affect and control management, operations, finances, staffing, and policies and procedures at Riverside, all of which directly affected patient/resident care such as that of Barbara Frazier.

The hearing for Defendant Orangeburg Post-Acute's Motion to Dismiss was held on March 23, 2022. The matter was taken under advisement. The court granted Defendant Orangeburg Post-Acute's motion to dismiss on the ground they were not a successor entity. [R. p. 14.] Plaintiff timely filed a second Notice of Intent on March 17, 2022, naming six (6) new corporate defendants, namely Respondent Halycon Rehab, LLC. [R. pp. 116-149.] The second Notice of Intent gave rise to this Appeal.

In the second Notice of Intent, Appellant made claims against the corporate Defendants for underfunding, understaffing, and undertraining at the facility wherein the corporate Defendants took money from the facility which should have been used and directed for patient/resident care. Appellant further alleged the corporate Defendants controlled the finances and thereby controlled the funding and staffing at the facility.

Respondent Halycon Rehab, LLC filed a Motion to Dismiss Appellant's second Notice of Intent. [R. pp. 218-220.] A hearing was held on September 22, 2022. [R. pp. 151-154.] The trial court issued an Order granting Respondent's Motion Dismiss finding Appellant did not provide an expert affidavit alleging at least one act of negligence by Respondent pursuant to S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125. [R. pp. 6-8.]

STATEMENT OF FACTS

Barbara Frazier, at age 47, became a resident at Riverside Rehab and Health Center, LLC (Riverside), a skilled nursing facility located in Orangeburg County South Carolina. Ms. Frazier's residency began in April 2015 and ended around July 2018 when she was discharged to Regional Medical Center. Ms. Frazier died on July 28, 2018.

During her admission to Riverside, Ms. Frazier was dependent on the staff at the facility for most of her daily needs, including but not limited to, turning and repositioning, pressure relief, toileting, transfers, mobility, hygiene and grooming, and other activities of daily living. Appellant as Personal Representative of Ms. Frazier's estate, alleged Ms. Frazier suffered multiple injuries at the facility including, but not limited to a) dehydration; b) sepsis; c) acute kidney failure; d) pressure sores; e) insults to her dignity; f) violation of her rights; g) physical suffering; h) urinary tract infection; and i) mental anguish. Appellant also made claims against the corporate Defendants, namely the Respondent, for underfunding, understaffing, and undertraining at the facility wherein the corporate Defendants took money from the facility which should have been used and directed for patient/resident care.

A. FACILITY BACKGROUND

During Ms. Frazier's residency, the facility had multiple entities appear on the facility's admission paperwork and in the patient's records. For example, when Ms. Frazier was originally admitted on April 14, 2015, the facility's admission paperwork included the name of Covenant Dove Healthcare of Orangeburg, LLC. Also, in April of 2015, Ms. Frazier's physical therapy log reflected the name Laurel Baye Healthcare of Orangeburg. In April of 2016, Ms. Frazier's treatment records reflected the name Orangeburg Rehabilitation and Healthcare Center. And

finally, in May of 2016, Ms. Frazier's physical therapy card had the name Riverside Rehabilitation Center on it. [R. pp. 223-233.]

Given the numerous corporate entities that appeared in the facility's records, Appellant not only alleged nursing home negligence and neglect but has also made claims against the corporate Defendants for underfunding, understaffing, and undertraining at the facility wherein the corporate Defendants took money from the facility which should have been used and directed for patient/resident care. Appellant further alleged the corporate Defendants (Respondent) also controlled the finances and thereby controlled the funding and staffing at the facility. [R. pp. 122-123, 127-129.]

STANDARD OF REVIEW

A trial court's decision to grant a motion to dismiss is subject to a de novo review. *Morin v. Caire*, 77 F.3d 116, 120 (5th Cir. 1996).

MOTION TO DISMISS STANDARD

In deciding a motion to dismiss, the appellate tribunal applies the same standard of review that was implemented by the trial court. *Williams v. Condon*, 347 S.C. 227 (2001). The grant of a motion to dismiss will not be sustained if the facts alleged and the inferences reasonably deducible from the pleadings would entitle the Appellant to relief on any theory of the case. *Stiles v. Onorato*, 318 S.C. 297 (1995). Accordingly, the appellate court may consider the complaint, as well as documents incorporated into the complaint by reference, and matters of which a court may take judicial notice. It may also refer to matters of public record.

ARGUMENT

I. THE TRIAL COURT ERRED WHEN IT GRANTED HALYCON'S MOTION TO DISMISS.

A. South Carolina Law has recognized direct liability of corporate parents.

Claims for direct corporate negligence have been specifically recognized by the South Carolina Supreme Court in nursing home cases in *Morrow v. Fundamental Long Term Care Holdings, LLC*, 412 S.C. 534 773 S.E. 2d 144 (2015). Plaintiff, here, argues the corporate Defendants including Respondent Halycon have control and authority over decisions regarding staffing, funding, policies, and procedures, etc. Plaintiff further alleged the corporate Defendants (Respondent) took profits from the facility which should have been directed for patient/resident care. [R. pp. 248-313.] The well-pled Complaint further alleged Respondent acted as each other's alter-egos, acted as each other's agents, and acted in a joint enterprise with an amalgamation of interest.

The Court, in *Morrow*, held "...direct corporate liability attaches due to a breach of duty which runs directly between a parent company and a subsidiary, arising from negligence in actions such as leaving a hospital underfunded, understaffed or undertrained so as to provide substandard care." See *Morrow*. Further, the corporate form may be disregarded when equity requires the action to assist a third party. *Woodside v Woodside*, 290 S.C. 366 (Ct. App. 1986). Thus, a corporate parent that actively participated in and exercised control over the operations of a subsidiary's facility may be directly liable as operator of the facility. *U.S. v. Best Foods*, 524 U.S. 5 (1998).

South Carolina law also provided that "when two or more persons unite in the joint prosecution of a common purpose under such circumstances that each has authority, expressed or implied, to act for all in respect to the control of the means and agencies employed to execute

such common purpose, the negligence of one in the management thereof will be imputed to the others. *Funderburk v. Powell*, 181 S.C. 412, 432 (1936). Further, South Carolina courts have held that evidence such as shared officers, shareholders, location, management, etc. can give rise to corporate liability under amalgamation of interest. *Kincaid v. Landing Development Corporation*, 289 S.C. 89, 96 (Ct. App. 1986).

B. Respondent Halycon participated in, and exercised control over the operations of its subsidiary's facility and is therefore liable under the theories of alter-go, piercing the corporate veil and amalgamation of interest.

Respondent Halycon is an entity related to and engaged in the operation and management of Riverside, either directly or through their subsidiaries and agents. [R. p. 320.] Appellant's Complaint identifies Respondent's relationship and how its conduct related to the negligent care given to Ms. Frazier. Additionally, the Medicaid Cost Reports for the facility identified Respondent Halycon Rehab, LLC and HMS Purchasing, LLC, as related parties with common control. Halcyon Rehab also received in excess of \$636,246.00 in payment in 2017-2018. *See Medicaid Cost Report for Riverside*. [R. p. 320.]

Appellant's Complaint properly alleged Respondent engaged in conduct as a corporate related entity in a joint enterprise, acting as the facility's agent and alter ego, with an amalgamation of interest. Respondent Halcyon 1) received payments from the facility; 2) contracted with the facility; 3) identified as a related companies to the facility; and 4) made representations regarding the care and operation of the facility to the government. Accordingly, Appellant should have been allowed to determine through discovery whether the Respondent and other corporate Defendants shared the same officers with the facility; filed tax returns for the facility; owned the facility's property; provided consulting services and direction to the facility;

and/or took huge sums of money from the facility. Such additional evidence would have been weighed by the trial court on a dispositive motion in the future.

C. Appellant's corporate claims against Respondent did not require compliance with the statutory requirements for filing medical malpractice, specifically the expert affidavit requirement.

Not every injury sustained by a patient in a hospital requires expert testimony to establish the claim. *Dawkins v. Union Hospital District*, 408 S.C. 171 (2014). Here, Appellant alleged Respondent actively participated in and exercise control over the operation of the subsidiary's facility. Allegations from the well-pled Complaint included corporate negligence grounded in the following conduct:

- Operational, budgetary, and administrative decisions that were determined more by the financial needs and goals of the Defendants than by the custodial, medical, and nursing needs of residents and patients of their facility, including Ms. Frazier;
- Creating, implementing, and enforcing dangerous operational budgets, practices, and policies at their facility which deprived residents and patients, including Ms. Frazier, of safe, adequate, and essential care and resources to meet their needs, including, but not limited to, appropriate plans of care, assessment and continued monitoring;
- Inadequate and inappropriate staffing of the subsidiary facility, even though the needs of the resident population, including the needs of Ms. Frazier, exceeded the capacity of the staff;
- Insufficient allocation of financial and operational resources to their facility, thereby causing harm to residents and patients, including Ms. Frazier; and
- Deceptive practices and fraudulent misrepresentations that concealed the subsidiary facility's inability to care for patients, including Ms. Frazier. [R. p. 70.]

None of these allegations constitute the practice of medicine requiring expert medical testimony to establish the duty owed to Ms. Frazier. Corporate negligence can be readily understood by jurors exercising their common knowledge. *Id.* Moreover, the allegations made against Respondent are nonmedical, administrative, and ministerial in nature. South Carolina law

is well established that expert testimony establishing the standard of care is not required for derivative claims sounded in ordinary negligence. *Id.*

CONCLUSION

South Carolina Supreme Court has specifically recognized direct corporate negligence against parent companies in this very type of case. See *Morrow*. In addition to the corporate negligence, there is sufficient allegation regarding Respondent's liability based upon agency, amalgamation of interest, alter ego, and joint enterprise. South Carolina law provides that "when two or more persons unite in the joint prosecution of a common purpose under such circumstances that each has authority, express or implied, to act for all in respect to the control of the means and the agencies employed to execute such common purpose, the negligence of one in the management thereof will be imputed to the others." See *Funderburk*. The Medicaid Cost Report substantiated Respondent's role in the operation, management, and control of the facility by virtue of their control of the finances, staffing, and administration which gives rise to direct liability. The alleged conduct of the Respondent is nonmedical and not subject to the statutory requirements associated with medical malpractice. Therefore, this court should reverse the trial court's order granting Respondent's Motion to Dismiss.