THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA  
In the Court of Appeals

---

APPEAL FROM ORANGEBURG COUNTY  
Court of Common Pleas

Maite Murphy, Circuit Court Judge

---

Appellate Case No. 2023-000479

---

Michelle Frazier, Individually and as Personal Representative  
of Estate of Barbara Frazier,.....Appellant,

v.

Orangeburg Post-Acute, LLC dba Edisto Post-Acute fka  
Riverside Rehabilitation and Health Care Center LLC,  
Providence Group, Inc., Providence Administrative  
Consulting Services, Inc., Halcyon Rehab, LLC, HMS  
Purchasing, LLC, Apricity Resources, LLC, OHI Asset  
(SC) Orangeburg, LLC.....Defendants,

Of which Halcyon Rehab, LLC is the.....Respondent.

---

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

## ARGUMENT

### **I. The Court should affirm because Frazier has failed to appeal the circuit court’s Order granting Halcyon’s Motion to Dismiss.**

As a threshold matter, this Court should dismiss the appeal because Frazier has never filed a copy of the circuit court’s original Order, as required by Rule 203(d)(B)(ii). The Notice of Appeal included a copy of the circuit court’s Order that denied Frazier’s Rule 59(e) motion, but it did not include a copy of the Order that granted Halcyon’s Motion to Dismiss. Therefore, the Notice of Appeal did not comply with the Appellate Court Rules for purposes of the dismissal order.

The Notice of Appeal itself makes no reference to the dismissal order, which the circuit court filed on January 25, 2023. Instead, the Notice of Appeal states only: “Appellant Michelle Frazier appeals the order of the Honorable Maite Murphy denying Plaintiff’s Motion to reconsider dated February 16, 2023. Appellant received written notice of the entry of the Form 4 Order as of February 16, 2023.” [R. pp. 184-185.] That language makes it plain that the only order being appealed is the denial of the Rule 59(e) motion. Nothing in the Notice of Appeal constitutes a proper or timely appeal of the original dismissal order.

Frazier’s failure to appeal the circuit court’s dismissal order is significant because “an unappealed ruling is the law of the case and requires affirmance.” *Transportation Ins. Co. v. S.C. Second Injury Fund*, 389 S.C. 422, 431, 699 S.E.2d 687, 691 (2010). *See also Judy v. Martin*, 381 S.C. 455, 459, 674 S.E.2d 151, 153 (2009) (“[A]n unappealed ruling becomes the law of the case and precludes further consideration of the issue on appeal.”) The circuit court concluded in its January 25, 2023 Order that Halcyon was entitled to a dismissal of the Complaint due to Frazier’s failure to meet the statutory requirements for commencing this type of action. That decision is now the law of the case, and this Court should not consider any challenges to it.

Any attempt by Frazier to rely on this Court’s decision in *Weatherford v. Price*, 340 S.C. 572, 532 S.E.2d 310 (Ct. App. 2000), would be misplaced because that case is distinguishable. In *Weatherford*, the text of the Notice of Appeal referenced only a second order denying a motion to reconsider, but copies of both that order and the original order were attached. The respondent argued the appellant had failed to challenge the original order because the body of the Notice of Appeal did not refer to that order. This Court rejected that argument, concluding that the absence of any such reference was an excusable clerical error when a copy of the other order was also attached to the Notice of Appeal. 340 S.C. at 577-78, 532 S.E.2d at 313.

The facts of the present case are different than those in *Weatherford*. Here, the Notice of Appeal made no reference to the order granting the motion to dismiss, and it also did not include a copy of that order. Instead, the Notice of Appeal referred solely and specifically to the order denying the motion to reconsider, and only a copy of that order was attached. Unlike in *Weatherford*, there is nothing in the body of the Notice of Appeal,

or in its attachments, to indicate that Frazier was challenging both orders. The only reasonable way to interpret the Notice of Appeal is that it applies to the second order, but not to the first. Therefore, more than a clerical error is involved, and Frazier failed to appeal the dismissal order.

The circuit court's decision to dismiss the Complaint as to Halcyon is now the law of this case. For that reason, this Court should either dismiss the appeal in its entirety, or affirm the result below based on Frazier's failure to appeal the dismissal order.

**II. The circuit court properly dismissed the Complaint because Frazier did not comply with the statutory pre-suit requirements as to Halcyon.**

In order to commence a civil action against Halcyon, Frazier had to satisfy certain statutory requirements regarding an expert affidavit. Under S.C. Code Ann. § 15-79-125(A), “[p]rior to filing or initiating a civil action alleging injury or death as a result of medical malpractice, the plaintiff shall contemporaneously file a Notice of Intent to File Suit and an affidavit of an expert witness ....” Section 15-36-100 requires that “the plaintiff must file as part of the complaint an affidavit of an expert witness which must specify at least one negligent act or omission claimed to exist and the factual basis for each claim ....” S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(B). The filing of an expert affidavit that is defective in some way constitutes grounds for dismissal of the Complaint. S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(E).

In the present case, Frazier did file an expert affidavit with the Second NOI and with the Complaint. As the circuit court correctly noted, however, that affidavit did not specify any “negligent act or omission” by Frazier. Rather, the affidavit focused solely on other defendants named in the Second NOI and the Complaint. For that reason, the expert

affidavit was defective as to Halcyon, and the circuit court properly dismissed the Complaint as to Halcyon.<sup>3</sup>

There is no need for the Court to engage in a close reading of the expert affidavit – or in any reading of it at all – because Frazier has not raised any arguments on appeal that the affidavit was non-defective as to Halcyon. The Appellant’s Brief contains no discussion of the expert affidavit’s contents. Nor does it include any assertions that the affidavit complied with the statutory requirements with regard to Halcyon. The Appellant’s Brief is entirely silent on that point, which means that even if Frazier intended to appeal that issue, she has waived any such arguments for purposes of this appeal. *See Fields v. Melrose Ltd. Partnership*, 312 S.C. 102, 106, 439 S.E.2d 283, 285 (Ct. App. 1993) (“An issue raised on appeal not argued in the brief is deemed abandoned and will not be considered by the appellate court.”).

Frazier effectively concedes that the expert affidavit was defective as to claims against Halcyon, or, at least, she does not dispute the circuit court’s ruling to that effect. Instead, Frazier argues that she was not required to comply with the expert affidavit requirement because the claims against Halcyon do not involve professional negligence or malpractice. In making that argument, however, Frazier misapprehends the scope of the cases on which she relies.

Frazier argues the claims against Halcyon were for “direct corporate liability” and not for any vicarious responsibility for employees of the nursing home facility. Even if that

---

<sup>3</sup> The governing statute contains a right to cure provision, which gives a plaintiff thirty days after service of a dismissal motion to remedy the alleged defect in the expert affidavit. The record does not give any indication that Frazier attempted to take advantage of that provision.

is true, it does not lead to the result Frazier suggests. The basis of Frazier's case is still a claim that her decedent sustained injuries and damages as a result of substandard and negligently performed medical care. That means it is still a medical malpractice case, regardless of the theories used to impose liability on the corporate defendants. The authorities upon which Frazier relies in her brief do not state otherwise.

Frazier cites *Morrow v. Fundamental Long-Term Care Holdings, LLC*, 412 S.C. 534, 773 S.E.2d 144 (2105), for the proposition that vicarious liability and direct corporate liability claims can coexist within the same case. Halcyon does not dispute that basic principle, nor does it have any need to. *Morrow* does not address the question of whether direct corporate liability claims against a medical care provider can or cannot be considered "medical malpractice" claims. That question was not before the Court, and the opinion contains no discussion of it. Instead, the actual issue before the Court in *Morrow* was the entirely unrelated question of whether a trial bifurcation order was immediately appealable. Thus, *Morrow* has no relevance to the present case.

*Dawkins v. Union Hosp. Dist.*, 408 S.C. 171, 758 S.E.2d 501 (2014), is relevant, but it does not support Frazier's argument on appeal. In *Dawkins*, the Supreme Court determined that a claim against a hospital did not fall within the definition of "malpractice," meaning compliance with the statutory affidavit requirement was not necessary. Although Frazier cites *Dawkins* for that result, she does not acknowledge or examine the basis for the Supreme Court's decision. This is perhaps understandable, as a closer examination of *Dawkins* reveals that it actually supports Halcyon's position, not Frazier's.

*Dawkins* arose from an incident in which the plaintiff fell on her way to the bathroom while waiting to be treated at the defendant's emergency room. The plaintiff filed

suit without following the statutory requirements for commencing a medical malpractice action. The hospital moved to dismiss the case on that basis. The plaintiff opposed the motion by arguing that she was presenting a premises liability case, not one for medical malpractice. The circuit court disagreed and granted the hospital's motion. The plaintiff appealed, and the Supreme Court ultimately reversed.

In reaching its decision, the Court stressed that a case does not always sound in medical malpractice simply because the underlying incident occurred at a medical facility. Because "no rigid analytical line" separates claims that do and do not involve medical malpractice, the Court stated that "differentiating between the two types of claims depends heavily on the facts of each individual case." 408 S.C. at 176, 758 S.E.2d at 504.

Yet, despite focusing on the fact-specific nature of the inquiry, the Court provided more general guidance for making the determination. As examples of non-malpractice claims arising from medical care facilities, the Court cited: "injuries caused by falling ceiling tiles or improperly maintained hallways or parking lots." 408 S.C. at 177, 758 S.E.2d at 504. The Court further explained:

In general, if the patient receives allegedly negligent professional medical care, then expert testimony as to that type of care is necessary, and the action sounds in medical malpractice. ... However, if the patient instead receives non-medical, administrative, ministerial or routine care, expert testimony establishing the standard of care is not required, and the action instead sounds in ordinary negligence.

408 S.C. at 177-78, 758 S.E.2d at 504. With that framework in place, the Court concluded that the case before it did not involve a medical malpractice claim because the plaintiff "had not begun receiving medical care at the time of her injury" and there was no allegation

that “Hospital’s employees negligently administered medical care.” 408 S.C. at 178, 758 at 505.

*Dawkins* demonstrates that for purposes of determining whether or not a claim sounds in medical malpractice, the key issue is the nature of the incident(s) giving rise to the claim. If those incidents involve allegations of substandard and negligently administered medical care, then the claim sounds in malpractice. If the incidents do not involve medical care, then the claim sounds in ordinary negligence. The analysis in *Dawkins* makes this point abundantly clear.

That reasoning is significant because it reveals the flaw in Frazier’s argument on appeal. Frazier suggests that if a claim against a medical care entity is based on “direct corporate liability” rather than vicarious liability, it can never fall within the definition of malpractice. But that position fails to follow *Dawkins*’ instruction that the proper focus is on the incident giving rise to the claims, not what the claims themselves are called or how they are presented. In other words, the key question to ask is whether the incident giving rise to the claimed injuries and damages involved negligent or substandard medical care. If the answer to that question is yes, the resulting causes of action sound in malpractice, regardless of how they are styled in the pleadings.

In the present case, the alleged negligence of the defendants certainly involved medical care. The Complaint leaves room for no other interpretation, as numerous paragraphs contain allegations that the defendants either provided inadequate medical care, or failed to provide certain care at all. For example, paragraphs 34, 35, 36, 39 and 47 set forth allegations of negligent nursing care, and paragraph 38 alleges that the nurses failed to obtain a necessary physician consultation. Given those allegations in her own pleading,

Frazier cannot credibly dispute that medical malpractice – i.e. negligent medical care – lies at the heart of her claims.

Frazier argues that the specific allegations against the corporate defendants (e.g. underfunding and understaffing the facility) are different than those against the actual medical care providers. Although that might be true, it does not remove the case as a whole from the realm of medical malpractice. The key question is still what caused the harms that serve as the basis for Frazier’s claims.

Assuming *arguendo* that Halcyon played any role in underfunding or understaffing the nursing care facility,<sup>4</sup> that does not end the inquiry. One must still look to the alleged results of those actions as they related to Decedent. Frazier does not allege (and cannot credibly claim) that the alleged decisions to underfund and understaff the facility, in and of themselves, caused any harm to Decedent. What Frazier actually claims is that underfunding and understaffing led to the negligent nursing care that Decedent purportedly received. This central premise unites the claims against all of the defendants. Frazier alleges that various negligent acts of the named defendants caused the negligent medical care, which in turn led to Decedent’s death. Viewed through this lens, the case clearly involves allegations of medical malpractice rather than ordinary negligence such as premises liability.<sup>5</sup> Indeed, without the fundamental allegations of malpractice, there would be no basis for any causes of action against anyone.

---

<sup>4</sup> Halcyon denies all such allegations, but understands the Court must take them as true for purposes of this appeal.

<sup>5</sup> The same basic connection would exist in “ordinary negligence” claims involving medical care facilities. Returning to one of the examples cited in *Dawkins* demonstrates this point. If underfunding by a corporate entity led to a lack of proper maintenance, which in turn caused a ceiling tile to come loose and fall, the resulting action would sound in premises liability, no matter whether the claim was against the maintenance workers, the

It is difficult for Frazier to argue that this case does not sound in medical malpractice when her own actions in commencing the case show that it does. Both times Frazier attempted to pursue a case based on Decedent's injuries and death, she began by filing the Notice of Intent that is required for professional malpractice actions. Although she did not file an expert affidavit for that first case, she did file the affidavit with the Second NOI and the Complaint for the second case. Why would Frazier have gone to that time and expense if she thought the action, at its most basic level, was not a medical malpractice case? The obvious answer is that Frazier did believe the case sounded in malpractice – and even intended it to do so.

In fact, the existence of an expert affidavit is another factor that distinguishes this case from *Dawkins*. The opinion in *Dawkins* gives no indication that the plaintiff ever filed a Notice of Intent or an expert affidavit. Instead, it appears that from the outset the plaintiff treated and pursued the action as a premises liability case against the hospital. As discussed above, that is not how Frazier has treated this case. In both versions of the case, Frazier took steps that are only required in malpractice actions. Although that fact alone might not be dispositive, it does show one more way in which the present case and *Dawkins* are distinguishable.

It is also important to note that the expert affidavit in this case is not necessarily defective as a whole. It does contain specifications of negligent care provided by some of the defendants, just not by Halcyon. Thus, the circuit court's ruling does not necessarily prevent Frazier from pursuing her claims against other defendants. It merely dismisses the

---

corporate entity, or both. The details of those causes of action might be different, but it would all be part of the same premises liability case.

Complaint as to Halcyon, which is the result that the applicable statutes contemplate as a consequence of non-compliance. *See* S.C. Code Ann. § 15-36-100(E).

Regardless of what specific allegations Frazier made against Halcyon, the gravamen of this case is the claim that Decedent received negligent and substandard medical care while at the facility and died as a result of it. Accordingly, this case sounds in medical malpractice. The allegations of the Complaint demonstrate that fact, as do Frazier's actions in filing a Notice of Intent and an expert affidavit. The governing statutes obligated Frazier to comply with the affidavit requirement as to Halcyon, and by her own admission (albeit a tacit one), Frazier failed to do that. Therefore, the circuit court properly granted Halcyon's motion to dismiss, and this Court should affirm.

**III. The statute of limitations bars any claims against Halcyon.**

In addition to Frazier's failure to comply with the affidavit requirement, Halcyon moved to dismiss based on the statute of limitations. The circuit court did not address the statute of limitations ground because the ruling on the affidavit issue made it unnecessary. However, Halcyon clearly raised the statute of limitations as a defense in the circuit court, and that defense serves as an alternative sustaining ground.

“[B]ecause an appellate court may affirm the lower court's decision for any reason appearing in the record, the prevailing party may – but is not required to – raise additional sustaining grounds to support the lower court's decision.” *Dreher v. S.C. DHEC*, 412 S.C. 244, 250, 772 S.E.2d 505, 508 (2015) (citing Rule 220(c), SCACR). “In raising an additional sustaining ground in an appeal, the party who prevailed in the lower court urges an appellate court to affirm the lower court's ruling for a reason other than one

primarily relied upon by the lower court.” *I’On, L.L.C. v. Town of Mt. Pleasant*, 338 S.C. 406, 417, 420, 526 S.E.2d 716, 722, 723 (2000).

Based on the applicable statutes of limitations, Frazier had three years from Decedent’s death to commence a civil action against any defendants. S.C. Code Ann. §§ 15-3-530, 15-3-545. According to the Complaint, Decedent died on July 28, 2018. [R. p. 168.] Thus, Frazier had until July 28, 2021, to commence an action against Halcyon for wrongful death, survival, or any other claims. The undisputed procedural facts demonstrate that Frazier failed to do that.

Frazier did not file the Notice of Intent in the current case until March 17, 2022 – nearly eight months after the statute of limitations expired. Frazier did not file the Summons and Complaint in this case until August 12, 2022, which was more than a year after the expiration of the statutory period. Clearly, then, Frazier did not comply with the statute of limitations, and her purported claims against Halcyon are all time-barred.

Furthermore, if (as Frazier contends) the present case is not subject to the pre-suit rules for malpractice cases, the only dates that matter would be Decedent’s death (July 28, 2018) and the filing and service of the Summons and Complaint (August 12, 2022, at the earliest). In that scenario, the claims would also be facially time-barred.

Any reliance by Frazier on the filing dates for the Notice of Intent and Summons and Complaint in the first lawsuit would be misplaced. Frazier filed the First NOI one day before the statute of limitations expired, but that NOI neither listed Halcyon as a defendant, nor made any allegations against Halcyon. The same is true of the Complaint in the first lawsuit. Frazier did not attempt to assert any claims against Halcyon until the Second NOI,

which, as noted above, was filed and served months after the statute of limitations expired. Thus, the first lawsuit has no impact on Halcyon's statute of limitations defense.

In addition, there is no basis for any argument that the filings in the current case should relate back to the filing date of the First NOI. The present case is not the result of any amendments or additions to an existing case. Frazier commenced this case as a completely separate and distinct action from the first lawsuit. Although both cases arise from the same basic facts and allegations, they involve some different parties, they were filed a considerable amount of time apart, and they have different civil action numbers. And, as noted above, Halcyon was never a party to the first lawsuit. Consequently, this is not a "relation back" situation, and that doctrine cannot save Frazier's claims against Halcyon.

In some situations, statute of limitations defenses involve factual disputes about when the claim arose and when the statutory period began to run. That is not the case here. The Complaint specifies Decedent's date of death, and the filing dates for the various pleadings<sup>6</sup> are matters of public record. Comparing those dates is all that is required to determine that Frazier failed to commence this case within the statute of limitations. Therefore, this issue serves as a particularly strong alternative sustaining ground if the Court disagrees with the circuit court on the affidavit issue.

### **CONCLUSION**

Frazier was required to comply with the statutory affidavit requirements in order to pursue an action against Halcyon. She clearly failed to do so. Therefore, to the extent that

---

<sup>6</sup> As previously noted, Halcyon asserts that the only relevant pleadings for purposes of this issue are the Second NOI and/or the second Summons and Complaint.

the dismissal order is even properly before this Court, the circuit court's decision should be affirmed. Alternatively, the Court should affirm based on Frazier's failure to commence an action against Halcyon within the time allowed by the applicable statutes of limitations.